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UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

NAM AN W AKIL,

D efendant.
/

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENER AI, ALLEG ATIONS

At a1l times relevant to this lndictment, l'nless otherwise specified:

RELEVANT STATUTORY BACKGROUND

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, Title 15, United States

Code, Sections 78dd-1, et seq. (the (TCPA''), was enacted by Congress for the purpose of, nmong

other things, m nking it unlawf'ul for certain classes of persons and entities to act com ptly in

furtlwrance of an offer, prom ise, authorization, or payment of m oney or anything of value to a

foreign government official for the pup ose of insuencing the foreign official, inducing the foreign

official to take or omit certain acts, and securing an improper advantage in order to assist those

classes of persons in obtaining or retaining business for, or directing business to, any person.
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Venezuela's Anti-cornzption Law of Apdl 7, 2003 (amended on November 19,

2014) prollibited public officials in Venezuela from, nmong other things, receiving or agreeing to

receive, money, on their own behalf or tllrough others, relating to any act taken in the course of

his/her official duties or responsibilities.

RELEVANT INDIVIDUALS AND ENTITIES

Defendant NAM AN W AKIL was a citizen of Syria and a legal permanent resident

of the United States. W AKIL maintained personal and investment bnnk accounts at banks in,

among other places, the United States, the Caym an Islands, and Switzerland. W AKTL was a

lEdomestic concçnw'' as that term is defined in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section

78dd-2(h)(1)(A).

Corporacion de Abastecimiento y Servicios Agricola (:GCASA'') was Venezuela's

state-owned and state-controlled food company under the M inistry of People's Power for Food

that purchased food for the people of Venezuela. CASA was a department, agency, and

Gtinstrumentality'' of the Venezuelan government as those terms are used in the FCPA, Title 15,

United States Code, Sections 78dd-2(h)(2)(A) and 78d&3(f)(2)(A).

Venezuelan Official 1 was alligh-rnnking official of CASA from in or around 2010

to in or arotmd 2011. Veneztzelan Official 1 was a tçforeign official'' as that term is used in the

FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-2@)(2)(A) and 78dd-3(t)(2)(A).

Venezuelan Oflkial 2 was ahigh-rnnking oftkial of CASA from in or arotmd 2011

to in or arotmd 20 14. Venezuelan Oftk ial 2 was a Ktforeign official'' as that term is used in the

FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-2(h)(2)(A) and 78dd-3(t)(2)(A).

NAM AN W AKIL owned and controlled various companies that received filnds

from CASA (together, the IGW aIdI Food Companies'), including W aldl Food Company 1.
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NAM AN W AKIL opened bnnk accounts for each of the W akil Food Companies in Switzerland

and for certain of the W akil Food Com panies in the Caym an lslands.

8. Petrôleos de Venezuela, S.A. (GTDVSA'') was Venezuela's state-owned and state-7

controlled oi1 company. PDVSA was owned and controlled by, and performed functions otl the

Venezuelan government. PDVSA maintained a majority stake in mld controlled certain PDVSA

subsidiaries, including'. (a) Petropiar, S.A. (Gtpetropiar''), a joint venture between PDVSA and an

American' oi1 company; and (b) Petromiranda, S.A. (Glpetrolniranda'), a joint venture between

PDVSA and a Russian oi1 company (together, the GTDVSA Subsidiaries'). PDVSA and the

PDVSA. Subsidiaries, including Petropiar and Petromiranda, were ltinstrtmlentalities'' of the

Venezuelan government and the PDV SA Subsidiaries'

officialw'l:as those tenns are used in the FCPA, Tijle

ofticers and' employees were Gtforeign

15, Urtited States Code, Sections 78dd-

2(h)(2)(A).and 78dd-3(9(2)(A).

Venezuelan Ox cial 3 was ahigh-ranldng official at Petrom iranda during the period

f'rom in.or.around 2014 to in or around 2017. Venezuelan Official 3 was a çlforeign official'' as

that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, Urlited States Code, Sections 78dd-2(h)(2)(A) and 78dd-

3(9(2)(A).

Venezuelan Official 4 was a high-ranking official at Petropiar dtlring the period

9om in or arolmd 2015 to in oi arotmd 2017.Venezuelan Official 4 was a GGforeign official'' as

that term is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-2(h)(2)(A) and 78dd-

3(9(2)(A).

11. N AM AN W AK IL owned and controlled various compnnies that received funds

from  Petropiar and Petrom iranda, directly or indirectly, relating to the provision of supplies to the

PDVSA Subsidiaries, including W akil Oil Company 1 and Wnkil Oi1 Company 2 (together, the
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çlWaldl Oil Compnnies'). ' W AKH , opened barlk accounts for the Wakil Oil Compnnies in the

United States.

12. 'Co-conspirator 1 was a Venezuelan citizen. Co-conspirator 1 was a tGperson'' as

that tenn is used in the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-3(t)(1).

13. Co-conspiratoro-was a Venezuelan citizen and a relative of Veneztzelan Official

2. Co-conspirator 2 was a'iGperson''eas tbat term is'tlsed in the FCPA, Title 15, Urlited States Code,

Section 780 -3 
.(9(.1.). . ': . ' .

14. .. ''tflozcozls/ircltor.3tèwa aivenezuelamcitizen. Co-conspirator 3 was a Gtperson'' as

that term is'ujed-in .the'F.CP<' ,Tit1è:'15. ,3united,slàtes Code, Section 78dd-3(9(1).

. 15. t C-corps/iràtor 4'was.a'venezuelamcitizen. Co-conspirator 4 was a çlperson'' as

that term istilsed. I'GeTCPA' ,RtTitlé45,.U nited Statés Code, Section 78dd-3(9(1).

16. uacœ conspitator 5 nwas a Venezuelan citizen and a resident of the United States

dudng the .relevantlperiodt IC. o-conspirator 5 wasea Rdomestic concenw'' as that term is defmed in

the FCPA, .Title::1,5.',rU' lïdi:stàtèjïcbde,'..s'eétion ,7$dd-2(h)(1)(A).

COUNT I
'ConspirAcy to'violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

(18 U.S.C. j.371)

1. ' . Paragraphs ,..1, t4br. otlgh ',1è6,,.of tthe , .General Allegations Section are re-alleged and

incorporatediby 'referenceèase. oujh .fully, set forth'herein.

2. . From in or arotmd 20 10, continuing tmtil at least September 2017, in the Southern

District of Flodda, and elsewhere, the defendant,

4
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NAM AN W AK IL,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the purpose of the conspiracy, and knowingly

conspire, combine, confederate and agree with others known and l'nknown to the Grand Jury, to

commit an offense.against the United States, that is:

a.

means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise

to pay, and authorization of the payment of money, offer, gift promise to give, and authorization

being a domestic concern, to willfully and corruptly make use of the mails and a

of the givingnofzan ' g of value to a foreign official, and to a person, while knowing that a11 or

a portion of sudh,monéy.ând tlling of value would be and had been offered, given, and promised

to a foreign/official, fpr/purposes of: (i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official in

his or her oocial, cgpédity; (ii) inducing such foreign official to do and omit to do acts in violation

of the lawftzl dutpofssuch ofticial; (iii) securing an improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such

foreign ofliciâl to use llis or her influence with a foreign government and agencies and

instrtzrrlentàlities..zGerèéfk'to affect and influence acts and decisions of such government and

agencies and instrumentalities, in order to assist N W AKIL, llis compnnies, and others in

obtaining and Tetniming business for and with, and directing business to, N W AKIL, his

compnnies, andnblbers, ins.violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-2; and

' t'Wl1ile in'the tenitory of the United States, to willfully and cornptly make use of

the mails and meaps and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and do any other act in

furtherance of an offer, payment, prom ise to pay, and atlthorization of the paym ent of m oney,

offer, gift promise to give, and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a foreign official,

and to a person, while lcnowing that all or a portion of such money and thing of value would be

and had been offered, given, and momised to a foreign oftkial, for purposes of: (i) intluencing

5
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acts alzd decisions of such foreign official in his or her official capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign

official to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official; (iii) securing an

improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use his or her influence with a

foreign government atld agencies and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and

decisions of such governm ent and agencies and instnzm entalities, in order to assist Co-

Conspirators 1, 2, 3, 4, and others in obtaining and retaining business for and with, and directing

business to, NAM AN W AK IL, his companies, and others, in violation of Title 15, United States

Code, Section 78dd-3.

PURPOSE OF TH E CON SPIM CY

lt was the pupose and object of the conspiracy for the defendant and his co-conspirators

to tmlawfully emich themselves by bribing Veneztzelan officials to obtain and retain contracts and

other business advantages, including obtaining payment on multi-million dollar conkacts with

entities and instnzm entalities controlled by the Veneztzelan governm ent.

M M NER AND M EANS OF THE CONSPM CY

The m anner and means by which NAM AN W AK IL and his co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the pupose of the conspiracy included, among other things, the following conduct in

the Southern District of Florida and elsewheze:

NAM AN W AM L, together with others, while in the Southern District of Florida

and elsewhere, did offer to pay, promise to pay, authorize the payment of, and pay bribes, diredly

and indirectly, to and for the benefk of foreign officials in Venezuela, including Venezuelan

Oo cials 1, 2, 3, and 4 to seclzre their assistance in awarding contw cts and providing business

advantages to W AKIL and his com panies.

6
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NAM AN W AKIL, together with others, while in the Southern District of Florida

and elsewhere, did discuss in person and by other means the mnnner and means by which bribes

were to be paid.

N W AKIL, together with others, while in the Southern District of Flodda

and elsewhere, used the W alcil Food Companies, the W aldl Oi1 Companies, and bank accolmts

controlled by W AKTL and othçrs in the Cayman Islands, Switzerland, Panama, and elsewhere to

prom ote the illegal bribery scheme and to conceal the natare and purpose of the proceeds of the

illegal bribery schem e.

Bribes to C'WSW Ofscials

ln or around 2010, NAM AN W AK IL m et V enezuelan Official 1 at W AK IL'S

office building in Caracas, Venezuela. W AK TL agreed to m ake com zpt paym ents to Venezuelan

Official 1 to obtain and retain contracts and business advantages, including disblzrsements of

contractual payments for the W aldl Food Companies with CASA.

From in or around January 2010 tö in or arotmd Jtm e 2011, NAM AN W AKIL

received approximately $30 million tllrough incoming wire transfers f'rom CASA into a bnnk

account located in the Cayman Islands held in the name of W aldl Food Company 1.

ln or arotmd August and September 2010, NAM AN W AKIL wire transferred

approximately $750,000 in bribe payments from the W akil Food Company 1 barlk account in the

Cayman lslands to a bnnk accotmt in South Florida for the benefit of Venezuelan Offcial 1. To

conceal and disguise the tnze nattzre of these bribe paym ents, W AK IL provided false invoices to

the bnnk in the Cayman Islands falsely indicating that the payments were for, among other things,

logistical services and custom s paperwork.

7
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ln or arotmd December 2011 or 2012, NAMAN W AKIL met Venezuetan Officiàl

2 in Caracas, V enezuela. W AKIL agreed to make cornzpt paym ents to Venezuelan Oflicial 2 to

obtain and retain contracts and business advantages, including disbursements of contractual

payments for the W aldl Food Companies with CASA. W AKIL agreed to make the com zpt

payments through Co-conspirator 2, a relative of Venezuelan Official 2.

8. ln or around 2012,. NAM AN W AKIL caused Co-conspirator 1 to set up barlk

accotmts in Switzerland for the benefit of Co-conspirator 2 and Venezuelan Official 2.

9. From in or arotmd 2012 to in or arolmd 2015, NAM AN W AKIL received

approximately $225 million tllrough incoming wire transfers from CASA to bnnk accounts for the

W akil Food Companies in Switzerland.

10. From in or m'olmd 2012 to in or arotmd 2014, NAM AN W AKTL wire transfen'ed

approximately $1 1 million in bribe payments from the W akil Food Companies' accotmts in

Switzerland to a bank accotmt in Switzerland controlled by Co-conspirator 2 for the benefit of

Venezuelan Oftkial 2. To conceal and disguise the true nature of these bribe payments, W AKIL

provided false hwoices to the bnnk in Switzerland that falsely stated the payments were for, among

other things, logistical selwices and customs paperwork.

In connection with the con-uptly obtained contracts from CASA, NAM AN

W AIQIL wit'e transferred at least $50 million to his personal accolmt in Switzerland. From these

fllnds in his ''personal accotmt in Switzerland, W AKIL wire transferred at least $20 million to

personal accotmts in his nnm e in M inmi, which W AK IL used to plzrchase, nm ong things, ten

apartment llnits in South Florida, a $3.5 million plane, and a $1.5 million yacht.

8
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Bribes to PDVSA Of/zeffll.î

12. In or arotmd 2014, NAM AN W AKTL met Venezuelan Official 3 and Co-

Conspirator 5 at W AKIL'S office building in M iami, Florida. W AKIL agreed to make cornlpt

paym ents to Veneztzelan Official 3 in order to obtain and retain contracts and business advantages,

including disbuisements of contracmal payments for the W akil Oil Companies with Petromiranda.

In or arotmd 2014, Venezuelan Official 3 sent an email from lzis personal e-mail

accolmt to an e-mail account of Co-conspirator 3 seeldng payment of approximately $100,000 to

a shell company account in Panam a. Co-conspirator 3 forwarded the e-m ail to an employee of

W AKIL and, subsequently, W AKTL caused the payment of approximately $100,000 from W aldl

Oi1 Company 1 for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 3.

ln or àrotmd 2015, NAM AN W AM L received approximately $7.7 million into a

bank accotmt for W alcil Oi1 Company 1 in the United States in connection with a Petromiranda

contract.

15. ln or arolmd 2015, NAM AN W AKIL caused the transfer of approximately

$250,000 from the W akil Oil Company 1 bnnk accotmt to a corporate account irl the United States

for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 3.

ln or arotmd 2015, NAM AN W AKIL caused an e-mail to be sent to Venezuelan

Official 4 seeking to obtain contracts for W alcil Oi1 Company 2 w111& Pçtropiar.

17. In or arotmd 2015, NAM AN W AKTL directed Co-conspirator 1 to open a bnnk

accotmt in the nnm e of a shell com pany for the benefit of Veneztlelan Official 4 in Pannm a.

18. In or aroutld 2015, Co-conspirator 3 received docllm ents by e-m ail from a close

relative of Venezuelan Official 4, including the passport of Venezuelan Ofticial 4, to open a bnnk

account for a shell company in Panama.

9
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19. In or arotmd 2015, NAM AN W AKIL caused Venezuelan Official 4 to approve an

approximately $11.2 million contract for Petropiar to ptzrchase pipes. W AKIL acquired the pipes

he supplied to Petropiar fw m China for approximately $1.3 million, leaving an inflated nmotmt of

approximately nine times the amount of the pipes. To conceal and disguise the beneficiaries of

the Petropiar contract, W AKTL caused the payments fzom  Petropiar to be m ade to a corporate

account of Co-conspirator 4 in M iami.

20. From January 2016 to July 2016, NAM AN W AKIL caused Petropiar to transfer

approximately $1 1.2 million to the corporate account of Co-conspirator 4 in M iami in connection

with Petropiar's purchase of pipes. To further conceal and disguise the fact that W AKIL and his

co-conspirators were the beneficiaries of the Petropiar payments, W AKIL did not receive kansfers

directly f'rom the coporate accotmt of Co-conspirator 4. lnstead, W AKIL and llis co-conspirators

caused m ultiple wire transfers f'rom the cop orate account of Co-conspirator 4 in M inmi to an

account controlled by Co-conspirator 1 in Pannma. W AKIL and his co-conspirators thereafter

caused additional wire transfers from Co-conspirator 1's account in Panama to accotmts of W aldl

Oi1 Company 2 in the United States.

In or around 2017, N W AKIL met Venezuelan Official 4 and. Co-

Conspirator 5 at W AKH,'S office building in M iami to discuss the bribe for Venezuelan Official

4 relating to the Petropiar pipe eontrad and purchase order.

In or around 2017, NAM AN W AKIL caused the transfer of osvnersi;p of a

condominium worth approximately $300,000 in M iami, Florida to a corporate entity controlled by

a close relative of Venezuelan Official 4 for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 4.

10
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NAM AN W AKIL maintained ledgers of bribe payments, including $350,000 in

payments made for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 3 and the $300,000 real estate transfer made

for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 4.

Overt Acts

ln furtherance of the conspiracy, and to affect the objects thereotl NAM AN W AKIL, and

others, committed the following overt acts, nmong others, in the Southern District of Florida, and

elsewhere'.

In or arotmd January 2012, NAM AN W AKIL caused a Swiss barlk account to be

opened in the nnme of a Panamanian company listing Co-conspirator 1 and Co-conspirator 2 as

signatodes.

2. On or about February 13, 2012, NAM AN W AKIL caused an email to be sent to

Co-conspirator 2 listing outstanding payments owed to the W aldl Food Companies f'rom CASA.

On or about M arch 1, 2012, Co-conspirator 2 forwarded the February 13, 2012

email to the personal email account of Venezuelan Offcial 2.

4. On or about April 5, 2013, NAM AN W AKIL caused a wire transfer of $1,000,000

f'rom one of the W aldl Food Company accotmts to the Swiss bank accotmt opened in the name a

Pannmanian company listing Co-conspirator 1 and Co-conspirator 2 as signatories. The payment

was for the benefit of Co-conspirator 2 and Venezuelan Of/cial 2.

5. In or around 2014, NAM AN W AKIL met Venezuelan Oftkial 3 and Co-

Conspirator 5 at W AK IL'S office building in M inmi, Florida. W AK IL agreed to m ake com pt

paym ents to Venezuelan Official 3 in order to obtain and retain contracts and other business

advantages, including disbursem ents of contracttzal paym ents for the W akil Oil Com panies w1111

Petrom iranda.
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On or about July 17, 2014, Co-conspirator 3 received an email from Venezuelan

Official 3 noting bnnk account inform ation to receive the payment of bribe proceeds âom

N W AK IL.

On or about October 8, 2015, NAM AN W AKIL and members of the conspiracy

caused the transfer of approximately $150,000 from an accotmt of W aldl Oi1 Company 1 to atl

accotmt in the United States for the benefit of Venezuelan Official 3.

On or about August 11, 2016, NAM AN W AKTL caused a ledger to be sent by

email tracldng payments relating to an approximately $ 1 1.2 million Petropiaz contract listing

payments owed to Venezuelan Official 1, Co-conspirator 1,

Conspirator 4.

Co-conspirator 3, and Co-

On or about August 16, 2016, NAM AN W AKIL caused Co-conspirator 1 to

receive approximately $800,000 in an accolmt in Panama.

10. ln or around 2017, N W AKIL met Venezuelan Official 4 and Co-

Conspirator 5 at W AKHU'S office building in M inmi to discuss the bribe for Venezuelan Oo cial

4 relating to the Petropiar pipe contract.

1 1. On or about Jtme 29, 2017, NAM AN W AKIL caused another ledger to be sent by

email traclcing payments relating to intlated contracts received by the W alcil Oi1 Comparlies with

the PDVSA Subsidiades, including various bribes paid to officials at the PDVSA Subsidiaries.

12. On or about M arch 20, 2017, a close relative of Venezuelan Official 4 sent an em ail

to an employee of NAM AN W AKIL providing condominimn application information related to

the upcoming transfer of ownership of a condominium worth approximately $300,000 in M inmi,

Florida.

12

Case 1:21-cr-20406-KMW   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/02/2021   Page 12 of 24



13. On or about September 1, 2017, NAM AN W AKIL caused the transfer of

ownership of a condominblm worth approximately $300,000 in M inmi, Florida, to a corporate

entity controlled by a close relative of V enezuelan Official 4 for the benefit of V enezuelan Official

4.

14. On or about September 1, 2017, N W AKIL caused an employee to send an

email to a title com pany attaching a HUD settlem ent statem ent reflecting the transfer of the

condomirlillm in M inmi, Flodda, to a corporate entity controlled by a close relative of Venezuelan

Official 4 for the benefk of Venezuelan Official 4. ,

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNT 2
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2; 18 U.S.C. j 2) '

1. Paragraphs 1 through 16 of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 1

tluough 23 of the M nnner and M eans Section of Cotmt 1 are realleged and incorporated by

reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. On or about September 1, 2017, in the Southem District of Florida and elsewhere,

the defendant,

N AM AN W AKTL,

. being a domestic.concem , did willfully use and cause to be used and aid, abet, counsel, command,

induce, and procure the use of the mails and means and instntmentalities of interstate commerce

com zptly in furtherance of an offer, paym ent, promise to pay, and authorization of the paym ent of

money, offer, gift, promise to give, and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a foreign

official, and to a person, while knowing that a1l or a portion of such money and thing of value

would be and had been offered, given, and promised to a foreign official, for purposes of: (i)

13
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influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official in his or her official capacity; (ii) inducing

such foreign official to do atld omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duty of such official; (iii)

securing an improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use his or her influence

with a foreign government and agencies and instrtlmentalities thereof to affect and influence acts

and decisions of such government and agencies and instnlm entalities, in order to assist W AKIL,

llis companies, and others in obtaining and retaining business for and with, and directing business

to, W AKIL, llis companies, and others, to wit W AKIL caused an email to be sent in colmection

with tlze transfer of ownership of a condominituu in M iami, Florida worth approximately $300,000

on or abopt September 1, 2017, for the benefit of Venezuelan Offcial 4, in violation of Title 15,

United States Code, Section 78dd-2, and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 3
(Conspiracy to Commit M oney Laundering - 18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs 1 through 16 of the General Allegations Section are re-alleged and1.

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or arotmd 2010, continuing until at least September 2017, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,
?

N W AK TL,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine,

conspire, confederate, and agree with persons known and llnknown to the Grand Jury, to comm it

an offense against the United States, that is:

To knowingly, transpol't, transmit and trénsfer a monetary instntment and fllnds

from  a place in the United States to and through a place outside the Urlited States,

and to a place in the United States from and through a place outside the United

14
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States, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A):

To lcnowingly conduct, and aid, abet, arld cause others to conduct, and attempt to

conduct, financial transactions affecting interstate and foreign commerce, which

transactions involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, lcnowing that the

b.

property involved in the financial transactions represented the proceeds of some

form of llnlawful activity, and that the financialtransactions were designed in whole
. 

'

and in part, to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the solzrce, the

ownership, and control of the proceeds of said specified Ilnlawful activity, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B).

lt is f'urther alleged that the specified unlawfulactivity is the following: (a) a felony

violation of the FCPA, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-2 and 78dd-3; and (b) an

offense against a foreign nation, specifically Veneztzela, involving bribery of a public oo cial, and

the misappropriation, theft, and embezzlement of public funds by and for the benefit of a publio

official, as provided by Title 18, United States Code, Sedion 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv).

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

lt was the purpose of the conspiracy for the defendant and his co-conspirators to tmlawfully

emich themselves by bribing Venezuelan officials to obtain and retain contracts and other business

advantages, including obtaining paym ent on m ulti-m illion dollar contracts with entities and

instntmentalities controlled by the V enezuelan government, and to latmder bribes, proceeds, and

other ftmds related to the com zpt scheme into and through accotmts in the United States in order

to promote the illegal bribery schem e and to conceal the natlzre and purpose of the proceeds of the

illegal bribery schem e.

15
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M ANNER AND M EAN S OF THE CONSPIM CY

Paragraphs 1 through 23 of the M rmner and M eans Section of Cotmt 1 are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNT 4
International Laundering of M onetary lnstruments

(18 U.S.C. jj 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2)

Paragraphs 1 through 16 of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 1

through 23 of the M nnner and M eans Section of Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by

reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about August 16, 2016, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the

defendant,

NAM AN W AKIL,

knowingly transported, transmitted, and transferred, and aided and abetted, and caused, the

transpolt transmission, and transfer of, and attempted to transport, transmit, and transfer, a

monetary instrument and funds 9om a place in the United States to and through a place outside

the United States and to a place in the Urlited States âom and through a place outside the Unitèd

States, with the intent to promote the canying on of specified llnlawftll activity, that is: (aj a

violation of the FCPA, Title 15, Utlited States Code,' Sections 78dd-2 and 78dd-3; and (b) an

offense against a foreign nation, specifically Venezuela, involving bribely of a public official, and

the m isappropriation, theft, and embezzlement of public fllnds by and for the benefit of a public

ofdcial, plzrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv), that is, the transfer of

approximately $800,000 from a bank accotmt in M iami, Florida to a bank account in Pannma,

16
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controlled by Co-conspirator 1, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

1956(a)(2)(A) and 2.

COUNTS 5-7
Engaging in Transactions in Crim inally Derived Property

(18 U.S.C. jj 1957 and 2)

Pazagraphs 1 through 16 of the General Allegations Section and paragraphs 1

through 23 of the M almer and M eans Section of Count 1 are re-alleged and incorporated by

reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. On or about the dates set forth in each Count belnw, in the Southem District of

Florida and elsewhere, the defendant,

NAM AN W AK IL,

did knowingly engage 1, and aid, abet, and cause others to engage 1, and attempt to engage 1, a

monetary transaction affecting interstate commerce, by, though, and to a Enancial institution, in

crinlinally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, such property having been dedved

from a specified unlawf'ul activity, and lcnowing that the property involved in the financial

transactions represented the proceeds of some form of lqnlawful activity. It is further alleged that

the specified llnlawf'ul activity is the following: (a) a felony violation of the FCPA, Title 15, United

States Code, Sections 78dd-2 and 78dd-3; and (b) an offense against a foreign nation, specifically

Vene> ela, involving bribery

embezzlement of publie funds by and for the benefit of a public official, pm suant to Title 18,

public official, and the misappropriation, theft and

United States Code, Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv):
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Cotmt Approxim ate Date Description of Trânsaction

5 October 11, 2016 W ire transfer in the nmount of approximately $1,742,510
from  a bnnk account of NAM AN W AK IL in the Southern
District of Florida to an atlorney escrow accotmt in the
Southern District of Florida for the ptlrchase of an
apartment in Coconut Grove at 2675 S. Bayshore, Unit
602, Miami, Florida 33133

6 October 11, 2016 W ire transfer in the amotmt of approximately $1,659,419
from a bnnk accotmt of N W AKIL in the Southern
District of Florida to an attorney escrow account in the
Southern District of Florida for the ptlrchase of an
apartment in Coconut Grove at 2675 S. Bayshore, Unit
402, M iami, Flodda 33133

7 December 14, 2016 W ize t'ransfer in the amotmt of approximately $4,032,051
from a bnnk account of N W AKIL izl the Southern
Diskict of Florida to an attorney escrow account for the
purchase of an apm m ent in Sllnny Isles at 18555 Collins
Avenue, Unit 2605, M inmi Beach, Florida 33139

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2.

FORFEITURE

(18 U.S.C. jj 981(a)(1)(C) and 982(a)(1))

1. The allegations of this Indictment are re-alleged and by this reference ftzlly

incoporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeittzre to the United States of America of certain

property in wllich the defendant, NAM AN W AK IL, has an interest.

Upon conviction of a vièlation of Title 15, Urlited States Code, Section 78dd-2, or

a conspiracy to commit such an offense, as alleged in this lndictment, the defendant shall forfeit

to the United States any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is dedved from proceeds

traceable to such offense, plzrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C).

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, Urlited States Code, Section 1956 or

1957, as alleged this Indictment, the defendant, NAM AN W AKIL, shall forfeit to the United

18
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States any property, real or personal, involved in such offense, or any property traceable to such

property, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

4. The property subject to forfeittlre includes, but is not limited to:

a. a forfeiture money judgment in the nmotmt of at least $50 million;

b. real property located at 3535
331334

Hiawatha Avenue, Unit 602, M inm i, Florida

c. real property located at 68 SE 6 Street, Unit 251 1, M inmi, Florida 33131,'

real property located at 68 SE 6 Street, Unit 2911, M inm i, Florida 33131;

e. real property located at 4500 Nol'th Minmi Avenue, M iami, Florida 33127,.

real property located at 4510 North M inmi Avenue, M inm i, Florida 33127;

g. real property locuted at 92 SW  3 Street, Unit 4806, M iami, Florida 33130;

h. real property located 92 SW  3 Street, Unit 5006, M inmi, Florida 33130;

real property located at 257 W est M ain Avenue, Gastonia, N C 28052;

real property located at 18555 Collins Avenue, Unit 2605, Minmi, Florida
33160;

k. real property located at 888 Brickell Key Ddve, Unit 1512, M inmi, Florida
33131.7

real property located at 1010 Brickell Avenue, Ulzit 3509, M inmi, Florida
33131;

m. real property located at 1010 Brickell Avenue, Unit 4310, M iami, Florida
33131;

n. realproperty located at 1010 Brickell Avenue, Unit 4610, M iam i Flotida 33131;

o. real property located at 1010 Brickell Avenue, Unit 4710, M iami, Florida
33131; and

p. the contents of Synovus Bank accotmt number 05312001015335423 in the
nnme of W akilisimo LLC;

q. the contents of Synovus Bank accotmt num ber 07081901013876345 in the
nam e of N am an W aldl;
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the contents of United Bank (formerly known as Carolina Trust Bank) account
number 0700017114 inthe name of Naman W alcil and SouheilA. GTony'' Azar;

s. the contents of United Bank (formerly known as Carolina Trust Bnnk) accotmt
number 700015258 in the name of W akil Properties LLC; and

the contents of Urlited Bank (formerly known as Carolina Trust Bankl accotmt
number 700015266 in the name of W akilisimo LLC.

If any of the property described above as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of5.
' 

alzy act or omission of the defendant:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jtlrisdiction of the Cotut

has been substantially dim inished in value; or

has been commingled with other property that cannot be divided w ithoute.

difficulty;

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substimte property, 'under the provisions of

Title 21, United States Code, Section 8534.J9.

20

Case 1:21-cr-20406-KMW   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/02/2021   Page 20 of 24



A1l pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), and the proceduzes set forth

in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code,

982(19(1).

yf-A TRUE B

b ' ' ' NP

f

H . *
:- JOSEPH S. BEEM STERBOER
ACTING CHIEF, FRAUD SECTION
CRIM m AL DIVISION

<

# . >
& z Alexander Kram er

Trial Attorney

y/,-w '
(W  JU ANTO O GONZALEZACT G > 1 ED STATES ATTORNEY

' #

M ichael N . Berger
Assistant United States Attorney
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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERNDISTRICT OFFLORIDA

UNITED STATESOFAM ERICA CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY.
Superseding Case Information:NAMAN WAKIL,

Defendant. /

CourtDivision:tselect One) New defendantts) I--I Yes I--I No
1--17 Miami I-lloey West F-IFTL Numberof newdefendants
I--IWPB N FTP Totalnumberofcounts

1. 1 have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of probable
witnesses and the legal complexities of the lndictment/lnformation attachedhereto.

2. 1 am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act,

Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161.

3. lnterpreter: (Yes or No) Yes
List language and/or dialect Spanish

4. This case will take 10 days for the parties to try.

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listedbelow:
(Check only one) (Check only one)
0 to 5 days (7l Petty E7I

11 6 to 1 0 days Ec Minor ETI
l11 11 to 20 days (7q Misdemeanor N
IV 21 to 60 days (7q Felony Lz
V 61 days and over E7
6. Has this case previously been tiled in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
lf yes: Judge Case No.

(Attach copy of dispositive order)

Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No
If yes: Magistrate Case No.

Related m iscellaneous numbers:

Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No
Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 9, 2013 (Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? (Yes or No) No
Does this case originate from a matler pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Atlorney's Office priorto
August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) No
Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? (Yes orNo) No

*penalty Sheetls) attachi

' Q
M ichael N. Berger
Assistant United States Attorney
Coud ID No. A5501557

REV 3/l 9/2 1
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SO UTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: NAM AN W AKIL

Case No: .

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Com mit an Offense Acainst the United States

Title 18, United States Code. Section 371

* Max.penalty: Five (5) Years' Imprisonment

Count #: 2

Foreizn Con-upt Practices A ct

Title 15s United States Codes Section 78dd-2

* M ax-penalty: Twenty (20) Years' lmprisonment

Cotmt #: 3

Conspiracy to Comm it M onev Latmdednc

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1956(h)

* M ax.penalty: Twenty (20) Years' lmpdsomnent

Count #: 4

International Launderin: of M onetarv Instruments

Title 18e United States Codee Section 1956(a)

* M axzenalty: Twenty (20) Years' lmprisonment

WRefers only to possible term  of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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Cotmts #: 5-7

Engazing in M onetarv Transactions in Criminallv Derived Property

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1957

* Max.penalty: Ten (10) Years' Impdsonment

*Refers only to possible term  of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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